
UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549
 

FORM 10-Q
 
x QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
 

For the Quarterly Period Ended July 31, 2009
 
☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
                     
                                   For the transition period from    to
 

Commission File Number 1-16497
 

MOVADO GROUP, INC.
(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)

New York  13-2595932
(State or other jurisdiction  (IRS Employer

of incorporation or organization)  Identification No.)
 

650 From Road, Ste. 375
Paramus, New Jersey

 

07652-3556
(Address of principal executive offices)  (Zip Code)

 (201) 267-8000
 

(Registrant's telephone number, including area code)
 

 
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing
requirements for that past 90 days. Yes  x No ☐
 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to
be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the
registrant was required to submit and post such files).  Yes  ☐ No ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the
definitions of "large accelerated filer,'' "accelerated filer'' and "smaller reporting company'' in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
Large accelerated filer ☐ Accelerated filer x Non-accelerated filer ☐ Smaller reporting company ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).  Yes  ☐ No x
 

The number of shares outstanding of the registrant's common stock and class A common stock as of August 31, 2009 was 17,828,100 and 6,634,319,
respectively.

 
 



 

MOVADO GROUP, INC.

Index to Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
July 31, 2009

   Page
Part I Financial Information (Unaudited)  
    
 Item 1. Consolidated Balance Sheets at July 31, 2009, January 31, 2009 and July 31, 2008       3
    
  Consolidated Statements of Income for the three months and six months ended July 31, 2009 and 2008           4
    
  Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the six months ended July 31, 2009 and 2008       5
    
  Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 6
    
 Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 18
    
 Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 29
    
 Item 4. Controls and Procedures 30
   
Part II Other Information  
    
 Item 1. Legal Proceedings 31
    
 Item 1A. Risk Factors 31
    
 Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds 31
  

Item 4.
 
Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

 
33

  
Item 6.

 
Exhibits

 
34

   
Signature  35
   
   
   

 
 



 

PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements

MOVADO GROUP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

  July 31, 2009   
January 31,

2009   July 31, 2008  
ASSETS          
Current assets:          

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 47,474  $ 86,621  $ 84,503 
Trade receivables, net   76,689   76,710   96,372 
Inventories, net   248,187   228,884   238,736 
Other current assets   41,560   47,863   48,352 

Total current assets   413,910   440,078   467,963 
             
Property, plant and equipment, net   60,920   66,749   71,472 
Deferred income taxes   27,020   23,449   20,223 
Other non-current assets   24,502   33,714   38,404 

Total assets  $ 526,352  $ 563,990  $ 598,062 
             
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY             
Current liabilities:             

Loans payable to banks  $ -  $ 40,000  $ - 
Current portion of long-term debt   -   25,000   10,000 
Accounts payable   13,607   20,794   21,331 
Accrued liabilities   38,445   47,686   43,543 
Deferred and current income taxes payable   3,463   430   568 

Total current liabilities   55,515   133,910   75,442 
             
Long-term debt   40,000   -   49,776 
Deferred and non-current income taxes payable   810   6,856   6,577 
Other non-current liabilities   20,190   22,459   24,306 

Total liabilities   116,515   163,225   156,101 
             
Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)             
             
Equity:             

Preferred Stock, $0.01 par value, 5,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued   -   -   - 
Common Stock, $0.01 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized; 24,660,436, 24,592,682 and

24,364,427 shares issued, respectively     247     246     244 
Class A Common Stock, $0.01 par value, 30,000,000 shares authorized; 6,634,319, 6,634,319 and

6,634,319 shares issued and outstanding, respectively     66     66     66 
Capital in excess of par value   133,145   131,796   131,702 
Retained earnings   312,049   320,481   330,722 
Accumulated other comprehensive income   60,048   44,041   72,764 
Treasury Stock, 6,832,725, 6,826,734 and 6,745,915 shares, respectively, at cost   (97,418)   (97,371)   (95,497)

Total Movado Group, Inc. shareholders’ equity   408,137   399,259   440,001 
Noncontrolling interests   1,700   1,506   1,960 

Total equity   409,837   400,765   441,961 
Total liabilities and equity  $ 526,352  $ 563,990  $ 598,062 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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MOVADO GROUP, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

(Unaudited)

  Three Months Ended July 31,   Six Months Ended July 31,  
  2009   2008   2009   2008  
             
Net sales  $ 89,701  $ 129,689  $ 157,276  $ 231,042 
Cost of sales   37,037   46,527   67,589   83,539 
                 
Gross profit   52,664   83,162   89,687   147,503 
Selling, general and administrative   49,547   72,022   97,689   134,750 
                 
Operating  (loss)  / income   3,117   11,140   (8,002)   12,753 
                 
Interest expense   (2,301)   (794)   (2,846)   (1,500)
Interest income   149   523   200   1,480 
                 
(Loss) / income before income taxes and noncontrolling interests   965   10,869   (10,648)   12,733 
(Benefit) / provision for income taxes (Note 9)   481   2,669   (2,222)   3,236 
Net (loss) / income   484   8,200   (8,426)   9,497 
    Less: Net (loss) / income attributed to noncontrolling interests   (44)   64   6   112 
Net  (loss) / income attributed to Movado Group, Inc.  $ 528  $ 8,136  $ (8,432)  $ 9,385 
                 
Basic  (loss) / income per share:                 
Net (loss) / income per share  $ 0.02  $ 0.33  $ (0.34)  $ 0.37 
Weighted basic average shares outstanding   24,505   24,581   24,485   25,146 
                 
Diluted (loss) / income per share:                 
Net (loss) / income per share  $ 0.02  $ 0.32  $ (0.34)  $ 0.36 
Weighted diluted average shares outstanding   24,744   25,384   24,485   26,033 
                 
Dividends per share  $ 0.00  $ 0.08  $ 0.00  $ 0.16 
 

 
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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MOVADO GROUP, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

  Six Months Ended July 31,
  2009   2008
Cash flows from operating activities:      

Net (loss) / income  $ (8,426)  $ 9,497 
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) / income to net cash used in operating activities:          

Depreciation and amortization   9,770   9,097 
Deferred income taxes   (9,394)   (3,795)
Provision for losses on accounts receivable   737   819 
Provision for losses on inventory   443   749 
Loss on disposition of property, plant and equipment   -   11 
Stock-based compensation   1,440   2,477 
Excess tax from stock-based compensation   182   102 

Changes in assets and liabilities:          
Trade receivables   1,848   (1,925)
Inventories   (11,379)   (30,973)
Other current assets   9,780   (442)
Accounts payable   (7,633)   (17,671)
Accrued liabilities   (8,193)   444 
Current income taxes payable   2,939   (2,315)
Other non-current assets   1,551   (63)
Other non-current liabilities   (2,272)   101 

Net cash used in operating activities   (18,607)   (33,887)
          
Cash flows from investing activities:          

Capital expenditures   (2,901)   (11,293)
Trademarks   (237)   (436)

Net cash used in investing activities   (3,138)   (11,729)
          
Cash flows from financing activities:          

Proceeds from borrowings   50,998   20,000 
Repayments of borrowings   (66,000)   (22,325)
Stock options exercised and other changes   46   2 
Purchase of treasury stock   -   (37,872)
Excess tax from stock-based compensation   (182)   (102)
Financing fee   (2,451)   - 
Dividends paid   (1,220)   (3,959)

Net cash used in financing activities   (18,809)   (44,256)
          
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   1,407   4,824 
          
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents   (39,147)   (85,048) 
          
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period   86,621   169,551 
          
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  $ 47,474  $ 84,503 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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MOVADO GROUP, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared by Movado Group, Inc. (the “Company”) in a manner consistent with that
used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements included in the Company’s fiscal 2009 Annual Report filed on Form 10-K.  In the opinion of
management, the accompanying consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments, consisting of only normal and recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair
statement of the financial position and results of operations for the periods presented.  These consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with
the aforementioned Annual Report.  Operating results for the interim periods presented are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the
full year.

NOTE 1 – RECLASSIFICATIONS

Certain reclassifications were made to prior year’s financial statement amounts and related note disclosures to conform to the fiscal 2010 presentation as a result
of the adoption of SFAS No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements”.  Additionally, certain expenses associated with the Company’s
watch repair activities were reclassified from selling, general and administrative expenses to cost of sales on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income.

NOTE 2 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
 
As of February 1, 2008, the Company adopted SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements”, for financial assets and liabilities that are recognized or disclosed at
fair value in the Company’s consolidated financial statements and on February 1, 2009, the Company adopted fair value measurements for non-recurring financial
assets and liabilities. The adoption of SFAS No. 157 did not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financials statements. SFAS No. 157 defines
fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements.  Fair value is defined as the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  SFAS No. 157 establishes
a fair value hierarchy which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value into three broad levels as follows:
 

·       Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
 · Level 2 - Inputs, other than the quoted prices in active markets, that are observable either directly or indirectly.
 · Level 3 - Unobservable inputs based on the Company’s assumptions.
  
SFAS No. 157 requires the use of observable market data if such data is available without undue cost and effort.  The Company’s adoption of SFAS No. 157 did
not result in any changes to the accounting for its financial assets and liabilities.  Therefore, the primary impact to the Company upon its adoption of SFAS
No. 157 was to expand its fair value measurement disclosures.
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The following table presents the fair value hierarchy for those assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of July 31, 2009 (in thousands):
 
  Fair Value at July 31, 2009  
  Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Total  
Assets:             
Available-for-sale securities  $ 232  $ -  $ -  $ 232 
SERP assets - employer   719   -   -   719 
SERP assets - employee   11,532   -   -   11,532 
Hedge derivatives   -   2,398   -   2,398 
Total  $ 12,483  $ 2,398  $ -  $ 14,881 
                 
Liabilities:                 
SERP liabilities - employee  $ 11,532  $ -  $ -  $ 11,532 
Hedge derivatives   -   5   -   5 
Total  $ 11,532  $ 5  $ -  $ 11,537 
 
The fair values of the Company’s available-for-sale securities are based on quoted prices.  The hedge derivatives are entered into by the Company principally to
reduce its exposure to the Swiss franc exchange rate risk.  Fair values of the Company’s hedge derivatives are calculated based on quoted foreign exchange rates,
quoted interest rates and market volatility factors.  The assets related to the Company’s defined contribution supplemental executive retirement plan (“SERP”)
consist of both employer (employee unvested) and employee assets which are invested in investment funds with fair values calculated based on quoted market
prices.  The SERP liability represents the Company’s liability to the employees in the plan for their vested balances.

NOTE 3 – TOTAL EQUITY

The components of equity for the six months ended July 31, 2009 and 2008 are as follows (in thousands):

      Accumulated   
  Class A Capital in   Other    
 Common Common Excess of Retained Treasury Comprehensive Noncontrolling   
 Stock Stock Par Value Earnings Stock Income Interests Total  
 Balance,
January 31,
2009          $ 246

         $
66      $131,796      $320,481      ($97,371)            $44,041                $1,506       $400,765

 

   Net (loss) /
income            (8,432)                     6         (8,426)

 

   Stock options
exercised, net
of tax 1              107              (47)               61

 

    Stock-based
compensation
expense               1,440                 1,440

 

   Supplemental
executive
retirement plan              (198)                (198)

 

   Net
unrealized gain
on investments                        97                97

 

   Effective
portion of
unrealized loss
on hedging
contracts                       (247)               (247)

 

   Foreign
currency
translation
adjustment      16,157 188          16,345

 

 Balance, July
31, 2009           $247

         $
66     $133,145      $312,049      ($97,418)            $60,048                $1,700       $409,837
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      Accumulated   
  Class A Capital in   Other    
 Common Common Excess of Retained Treasury ComprehensiveNoncontrolling   
 Stock Stock Par Value Earnings Stock Income Interests Total  
 Balance,
January 31,
2008           $243

         $
66      $128,902      $325,296      ($57,202) $65,748                 $2,007      $465,060

 

   Net income            9,385   112         9,497 
   Dividends
declared    (3,959)   (3,959)

 

   Stock
repurchase     (37,872)  (37,872)

 

   Stock options
exercised, net
of tax 1  208  (423)               (214)

 

   Stock-based
compensation
expense               2,477                 2,477

 

   Supplemental
executive
retirement plan              115                115

 

   Net
unrealized gain
on investments                       50                50

 

   Effective
portion of
unrealized gain
on hedging
contracts      19               19

 

   Foreign
currency
translation
adjustment      6,947 (159)          6,788

 

 Balance, July
31, 2008           $244

         $
66     $131,702      $330,722      ($95,497) $72,764                 $1,960      $441,961

 

 
The components of comprehensive income for the three months and six months ended July 31, 2009 and 2008 are as follows (in thousands):

  
Three Months Ended

July 31,   
Six Months Ended

July 31,  
  2009   2008   2009   2008  
Net (loss) / income  $ 484  $ 8,200  $ (8,426)  $ 9,497 
Net unrealized gain / (loss) on investments, net of tax   53   (22)   97   50 
Effective portion of unrealized (loss) / gain on hedging

contracts, net of tax   (190)   (850)   (247)   19 
Foreign currency translation adjustments (1)   11,215   (3,866)   16,345   6,788 
Comprehensive income   11,562   3,462   7,769   16,354 
Less: Comprehensive (loss) / income attributable to

noncontrolling interests   103   (210)   194   (47)
Total comprehensive income
     attributable to Movado Group, Inc.  $ 11,459  $ 3,672  $ 7,575  $ 16,401 

 (1) The foreign currency translation adjustments are not adjusted for income taxes as they relate to permanent investments in international subsidiaries.

NOTE 4 – SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company follows SFAS No. 131, "Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information".  This statement requires disclosure of segment
data based on how management makes decisions about allocating resources to segments and measuring their performance.

The Company conducts its business primarily in two operating segments: Wholesale and Retail.  The Company’s Wholesale segment includes the designing,
manufacturing and distribution of quality watches, in addition to revenue generated from after sales service activities and shipping. The Retail segment includes
the Movado Boutiques and outlet stores.
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The Company divides its business into two major geographic segments: United States operations, and International, which includes the results of all other
Company operations.  The allocation of geographic revenue is based upon the location of the customer. The Company’s international operations are principally
conducted in Europe, Asia, Canada, the Middle East, South America and the Caribbean.  The Company’s international assets are substantially located in
Switzerland.

Operating Segment Data for the Three Months Ended July 31, 2009 and 2008 (in thousands):

    
  Net Sales   Operating Income  
  2009   2008   2009   2008  
             
Wholesale  $ 69,580  $ 107,026  $ 2,276  $ 10,899 
Retail   20,121   22,663   841   241 
Consolidated total  $ 89,701  $ 129,689  $ 3,117  $ 11,140 

Operating Segment Data for the Six Months Ended July 31, 2009 and 2008 (in thousands):
    

  Net Sales   
Operating (Loss)

Income  
  2009   2008   2009   2008  
             
Wholesale  $ 121,409  $ 192,277  $ (6,047)  $ 15,474 
Retail   35,867   38,765   (1,955)   (2,721)
Consolidated total  $ 157,276  $ 231,042  $ (8,002)  $ 12,753 

  Total Assets  

  July 31, 2009   
January 31,

2009   July 31, 2008  
          
Wholesale  $ 480,688  $ 515,517  $ 539,888 
Retail   45,664   48,473   58,174 
Consolidated total  $ 526,352  $ 563,990  $ 598,062 

Geographic Segment Data for the Three Months Ended July 31, 2009 and 2008 (in thousands):
    

  Net Sales   
Operating (Loss)

Income  
  2009   2008   2009   2008  
             
United States  $ 53,259  $ 70,673  $ (1,504)  $ (3,264)
International   36,442   59,016   4,621   14,404 
Consolidated total  $ 89,701  $ 129,689  $ 3,117  $ 11,140 

United States and International net sales are net of intercompany sales of $54.4 million and $68.4 million for the three months ended July 31, 2009 and 2008,
respectively.
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Geographic Segment Data for the Six Months Ended July 31, 2009 and 2008 (in thousands):

    

  Net Sales   
Operating (Loss)

Income  
  2009   2008   2009   2008  
             
United States  $ 91,724  $ 123,954  $ (15,399)  $ (12,771)
International   65,552   107,088   7,397   25,524 
Consolidated total  $ 157,276  $ 231,042  $ (8,002)  $ 12,753 

United States and International net sales are net of intercompany sales of $103.1 million and $141.5 million for the six months ended July 31, 2009 and 2008
respectively.

  Total Assets  

  July 31, 2009   
January 31,

2009   July 31, 2008  
          
United States  $ 237,106  $ 289,567  $ 292,855 
International   289,246   274,423   305,207 
Consolidated total  $ 526,352  $ 563,990  $ 598,062 

  Long-Lived Assets  

  July 31, 2009   
January 31,

2009   July 31, 2008  
          
United States  $ 45,331  $ 50,369  $ 53,024 
International   15,589   16,380   18,448 
Consolidated total  $ 60,920  $ 66,749  $ 71,472 

NOTE 5 – INVENTORIES, NET

Inventories consist of the following (in thousands):

  July 31, 2009   
January 31,

2009   July 31, 2008  
          
Finished goods  $ 164,055  $ 146,073  $ 144,138 
Component parts   62,619   81,423   83,192 
Work-in-process   21,513   1,388   11,406 
  $ 248,187  $ 228,884  $ 238,736 
NOTE 6 – DEBT AND LINES OF CREDIT

On June 5, 2009, the Company, together with Movado Group Delaware Holdings Corporation, Movado Retail Group, Inc. and Movado LLC (together with the
Company, the “Borrowers”), each a wholly-owned domestic subsidiary of the Company, entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (the “Existing Loan
Agreement”) with Bank of America, N.A. as agent and lender thereunder.  The Existing Loan Agreement provided for a $50.0 million asset based senior secured
revolving credit facility, including a $15.0 million letter of credit subfacility, that matures on June 5, 2012.

On July 17, 2009, the Borrowers entered into an Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement (the “Amended Loan Agreement”) with Bank of America,
N.A. and Bank Leumi USA, as lenders, and Bank of America,

 
10



 
N.A., as agent (in such capacity, the “Agent”), which amended and restated the Existing Loan Agreement.  The Amended Loan Agreement added Bank Leumi
USA as a lender thereunder and, to accommodate Bank Leumi USA holding up to $15.0 million of the Borrowers’ obligations thereunder, increased the size of
the Borrowers’ asset based senior secured revolving credit facility (the “Facility”) from $50.0 million to $55.0 million, including a $15.0 million letter of credit
subfacility. The maturity date of the Facility remains June 5, 2012. The collateral securing the Facility also remains unchanged.

Availability is determined by reference to a borrowing base which is based on the sum of a percentage of eligible accounts receivable and eligible inventory of the
Borrowers. As in the Existing Loan Agreement, $10.0 million in availability is blocked until the date on which the Borrowers have achieved for a four fiscal
quarter period a consolidated fixed charge ratio of at least 1.25 to 1.0 and have domestic EBITDA greater than a specified amount, but under the Amended Loan
Agreement, the availability block must remain in place for at least one year and the domestic EBITDA test has been increased from $0 to $10.0 million.  In the
Existing Loan Agreement, the amount of the availability block could be reduced by the amount by which the borrowing base exceeded the aggregate amount of
the commitments, up to a maximum reduction of $7.5 million. As the aggregate amount of the commitments under the Amended Loan Agreement has increased to
$55.0 million, the maximum reduction in the availability block attributable to excess borrowing base has been reduced to $5.0 million.  Availability under the
Facility may be further reduced by certain reserves established by the Agent in its good faith credit judgment.

The initial applicable margins were reduced for LIBOR rate loans from 4.50% to 4.25% and for base rate loans from 3.50% to 3.25%. Whereas the applicable
margins under the Existing Loan Agreement were fixed for the term of the Facility, under the Amended Loan Agreement, after July 17, 2010 the applicable
margins decrease or increase by 0.25% per annum from the initial applicable margins depending on whether average availability for the most recently completed
fiscal quarter is either greater than $12.5 million, or is $5.0 million or less, respectively.  The Company has also agreed to pay certain fees and expenses and
provide certain indemnities, all of which are customary for such financings.

Under the Amended Loan Agreement, prior to the date on which the availability block is released (the “Block Release Date”), if borrowing availability is less than
$10.0 million (increased from $7.5 million in the Existing Loan Agreement, but under the Amended Loan Agreement such threshold may be reduced to the extent
the borrowing base exceeds $55.0 million, up to a maximum $5.0 million reduction), Borrowers will be subject to a minimum EBITDA covenant. Unlike under
the Existing Loan Agreement, however, Borrowers will be subject to a minimum EBITDA covenant after the Block Release Date, as well, if borrowing
availability is less than $15.0 million.  As of July 31, 2009, the Borrowers were not subject to the minimum EBITDA covenant.
 
In addition, after the Block Release Date, if borrowing availability is less than $15.0 million (increased from $10.0 million in the Existing Loan Agreement),
Borrowers will be subject to a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio.

Finally, the Borrowers’ deposit accounts will be subject to cash dominion prior to the Block Release Date if borrowing availability is less than $7.5 million, but
such threshold may be reduced to the extent the borrowing base exceeds $55.0 million, up to a maximum $5.0 million reduction. After the Block Release Date,
cash dominion will be imposed if borrowing availability is less than $15.0 million (increased from $10.0 million in the Existing Loan Agreement).  As of July 31,
2009, the Borrowers were not subject to cash dominion nor do the Borrowers expect to be subject to such a requirement in the foreseeable future.

The Amended Loan Agreement contains affirmative and negative covenants binding on the Borrowers and their subsidiaries that are customary for asset based
facilities, including restrictions and limitations on the incurrence of debt for borrowed money and liens, dispositions of assets of the Borrowers, capital
expenditures, dividends and other payments in respect of equity interests, the making of loans and equity investments, prepayments of subordinated and certain
other debt, mergers, consolidations, liquidations and dissolutions, and transactions with affiliates.
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The Amended Loan Agreement contains events of default that are customary for facilities of this type, including, but not limited to, nonpayment of principal,
interest, fees and other amounts when due, failure of any representation or warranty to be true in any material respect when made or deemed made, violation of
covenants, cross default, material judgments, material ERISA liability, bankruptcy events, material loss of collateral in excess of insured amounts, asserted or
actual revocation or invalidity of the loan documents, change of control and events or circumstances having a material adverse effect.

The borrowings under the Facility are joint and several obligations of the Borrowers and also cross-guaranteed by each Borrower.  In addition, the Borrowers’
obligations under the Facility are secured by first priority liens, subject to permitted liens, on substantially all of the Borrowers’ U.S. assets other than certain
excluded assets.

On June 5, 2009, $40.0 million in loans were drawn under the Facility, which were used, in part, to repay amounts outstanding under the Company’s former U.S.
credit facility with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (“JPM Chase”) (the “Former US Facility”), which was terminated.  In addition, approximately $1.5 million in
letters of credit were issued, which were used to backstop letters of credit and other obligations outstanding in connection with the Former US Facility.  As of July
31, 2009, total availability under the Facility, giving effect to the availability block, the $40.0 million borrowing and the letters of credit, was $8.5 million.

During fiscal 1999, the Company issued $25.0 million of Series A Senior Notes (“Series A Senior Notes”) under a Note Purchase and Private Shelf Agreement,
dated November 30, 1998 and amended on June 5, 2008 (as amended, the “First Amended 1998 Note Purchase Agreement”), between the Company and The
Prudential Insurance Company of America (“Prudential”).  These notes bore interest of 6.90% per annum, were to mature on October 30, 2010 and were subject
to annual repayments of $5.0 million commencing October 31, 2006.  These notes contained various financial covenants including an interest coverage ratio and
maintenance of consolidated net worth and certain non-financial covenants that restricted the Company’s activities regarding investments and acquisitions,
mergers, certain transactions with affiliates, creation of liens, asset transfers, payment of dividends and limitation of the amount of debt outstanding.  Upon
entering into the Existing Loan Agreement on June 5, 2009, all outstanding amounts and related fees due under the Series A Senior Notes were paid in full, and
the First Amended 1998 Note Purchase Agreement was terminated.

As of March 21, 2004, the Company amended its Note Purchase and Private Shelf Agreement, originally dated March 21, 2001 (as amended, the “First Amended
2001 Note Purchase Agreement”), among the Company, Prudential and certain affiliates of Prudential (together, the “Purchasers”).  This agreement allowed for
the issuance of senior promissory notes in the aggregate principal amount of up to $40.0 million with maturities up to 12 years from their original date of
issuance.  On October 8, 2004, the Company issued, pursuant to the First Amended 2001 Note Purchase Agreement, 4.79% Senior Series A-2004 Notes due 2011
(the "Senior Series A-2004 Notes") in an aggregate principal amount of $20.0 million, which were to mature on October 8, 2011 and were subject to annual
repayments of $5.0 million commencing on October 8, 2008.  Proceeds of the Senior Series A-2004 Notes have been used by the Company for capital
expenditures, repayment of certain of its debt obligations and general corporate purposes.  These notes contained certain financial covenants, including an interest
coverage ratio and maintenance of consolidated net worth and certain non-financial covenants that restricted the Company’s activities regarding investments and
acquisitions, mergers, certain transactions with affiliates, creation of liens, asset transfers, payment of dividends and limitation of the amount of debt
outstanding.  On June 5, 2008, the Company amended the First Amended 2001 Note Purchase Agreement (as amended, the “Second Amended 2001 Note
Purchase Agreement”), with Prudential and the Purchasers.  Upon entering into the Existing Loan Agreement on June 5, 2009, all outstanding amounts and related
fees due under the Senior Series A-2004 Notes were paid in full, and the Second Amended 2001 Note Purchase Agreement was terminated.

The credit agreement dated as of December 15, 2005, as amended, by and between the Company as parent guarantor, its Swiss subsidiaries, MGI Luxury Group
S.A., Movado Watch Company SA, Concord Watch Company S.A. and Ebel Watches S.A. as borrowers, and  JPM Chase, JPMorgan Securities, Inc., Bank of
America, N.A., PNC Bank and
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Citibank, N.A. (as amended, the "Swiss Credit Agreement"), provided for a revolving credit facility of 33.0 million Swiss francs and was to mature on December
15, 2010.  The obligations of the Company’s Swiss subsidiaries under this credit agreement were guaranteed by the Company under a Parent Guarantee, dated as
of December 15, 2005, in favor of the lenders.  The Swiss Credit Agreement contained financial covenants, including an interest coverage ratio, average debt
coverage ratio and limitations on capital expenditures and certain non-financial covenants that restricted the Company’s activities regarding investments and
acquisitions, mergers, certain transactions with affiliates, creation of liens, asset transfers, payment of dividends and limitation of the amount of debt outstanding.
Borrowings under the Swiss Credit Agreement bore interest at a rate equal to LIBOR (as defined in the Swiss Credit Agreement) plus a margin ranging from .50%
per annum to .875% per annum (depending upon a leverage ratio).  Upon entering into the Existing Loan Agreement on June 5, 2009, the Swiss Credit Agreement
was terminated.

The credit agreement dated as of December 15, 2005, as amended, by and between the Company, MGI Luxury Group S.A. and Movado Watch Company SA, as
borrowers, and JPM Chase, JPMorgan Securities, Inc., Bank of America, N.A., PNC Bank, Bank Leumi and Citibank, N.A. (as amended, the "Former US Credit
Agreement"), provided for a revolving credit facility of $90.0 million (including a sublimit for borrowings in Swiss francs of up to an equivalent of $25.0 million)
with a provision to allow for a further increase of up to an additional $10.0 million, subject to certain terms and conditions. The Former US Credit Agreement was
to mature on December 15, 2010.  The obligations of MGI Luxury Group S.A. and Movado Watch Company SA were guaranteed by the Company under a Parent
Guarantee, dated as of December 15, 2005, in favor of the lenders. The obligations of the Company were guaranteed by certain domestic subsidiaries of the
Company under subsidiary guarantees, in favor of the lenders.  The Former US Credit Agreement contained financial covenants, including an interest coverage
ratio, average debt coverage ratio and limitations on capital expenditures and certain non-financial covenants that restricted the Company’s activities regarding
investments and acquisitions, mergers, certain transactions with affiliates, creation of liens, asset transfers, payment of dividends and limitation of the amount of
debt outstanding.  Borrowings under the Former US Credit Agreement bore interest, at the Company’s option, at a rate equal to the adjusted LIBOR (as defined in
the Former US Credit Agreement) plus a margin ranging from .50% per annum to .875% per annum (depending upon a leverage ratio), or the Alternate Base Rate
(as defined in the Former US Credit Agreement).  Upon entering into the Existing Loan Agreement on June 5, 2009, all outstanding amounts and related fees due
under this revolving credit facility were paid in full, and the Former US Credit Agreement was terminated.

On June 16, 2008, the Company renewed a line of credit letter agreement with Bank of America and an amended and restated promissory note in the principal
amount of up to $20.0 million payable to Bank of America, originally dated December 12, 2005.  The Company's obligations under the agreement were
guaranteed by its subsidiaries, Movado Retail Group, Inc. and Movado LLC.  The maturity date was to be June 16, 2009.  The amended and restated promissory
note contained various representations and warranties and events of default that are customary for instruments of that type.  Upon entering into the Existing Loan
Agreement on June 5, 2009, this uncommitted line of credit agreement was terminated.

On July 31, 2008, the Company renewed a promissory note, originally dated December 13, 2005, in the principal amount of up to $37.0 million, at a revised
amount of up to $7.0 million, payable to JPM Chase.  Pursuant to the promissory note, the Company promised to pay JPM Chase $7.0 million, or such lesser
amount as may then be the unpaid balance of each loan made or letter of credit issued by JPM Chase to the Company thereunder, upon the maturity date of July
31, 2009. The promissory note bore interest at an annual rate equal to (i) a floating rate equal to the prime rate, (ii) a fixed rate equal to an adjusted LIBOR plus
0.625% or (iii) a fixed rate equal to a rate of interest offered by JPM Chase from time to time on any single commercial borrowing. The promissory note
contained various events of default that are customary for instruments of that type. In addition, it was an event of default for any security interest or other
encumbrance to be created or imposed on the Company's property, other than as permitted in the lien covenant of the Former US Credit Agreement.  Upon
entering into the Existing Loan Agreement on June 5, 2009, this uncommitted line of credit agreement was terminated.
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A Swiss subsidiary of the Company maintains unsecured lines of credit with an unspecified length of time with a Swiss bank. Available credit under these lines
totaled 8.0 million Swiss francs, with dollar equivalents of $7.4 million and $7.6 million at July 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  As of July 31, 2009, two
European banks have guaranteed obligations to third parties on behalf of two of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries in the amount of $1.6 million in various
foreign currencies.  As of July 31, 2009, there were no outstanding borrowings against these lines.

NOTE 7 – EARNINGS PER SHARE

The Company presents net income per share on a basic and diluted basis.  Basic earnings per share are computed using weighted-average shares outstanding
during the period.  Diluted earnings per share are computed using the weighted-average number of shares outstanding adjusted for dilutive common stock
equivalents.

The weighted-average number of shares outstanding for basic earnings per share was 24,505,000 and 24,581,000 for the three months ended July 31, 2009 and
2008, respectively.  For the three months ended July 31, 2009 and July 31, 2008, diluted earnings per share were increased by 238,000 and 803,000, respectively,
due to potentially dilutive common stock equivalents issuable under the Company’s stock compensation plans.

For the three months ended July 31, 2009 and July 31, 2008, approximately 801,000 and 73,000 of potentially dilutive common stock equivalents, respectively,
were excluded from the computation of dilutive earnings per share because their effect would have been antidilutive.

The weighted-average number of shares outstanding for basic earnings per share was 24,485,000 and 25,146,000 for the six months ended July 31, 2009 and
2008, respectively.  For the six months ended July 31, 2009, the number of shares outstanding for diluted earnings per share was the same as the basic earnings
per share because the Company generated a net loss.  For the six months ended July 31, 2008, diluted earnings per share was increased by 887,000, due to
potentially dilutive common stock equivalents issuable under the Company’s stock compensation plans.

For the six months ended July 31, 2009 and July 31, 2008, approximately 1,246,000 and 56,000 of potentially dilutive common stock equivalents, respectively,
were excluded from the computation of dilutive earnings per share because their effect would have been antidilutive.

NOTE 8 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

At July 31, 2009, the Company had outstanding letters of credit totaling $1.2 million with expiration dates through June 30, 2010.  JPM Chase has issued 11
irrevocable standby letters of credit for retail and operating facility leases to various landlords, for the administration of the Movado Boutique private-label credit
card and Canadian payroll to the Royal Bank of Canada.  Under the Facility, approximately $1.5 million in letters of credit were issued to backstop the letters of
credit issued by JPM Chase.

As of July 31, 2009, two European banks have guaranteed obligations to third parties on behalf of two of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries in the amount of
$1.6 million in various foreign currencies.

The Company is involved from time to time in legal claims involving trademarks and other intellectual property, contracts, employee relations and other matters
incidental to the Company’s business.  Although the outcome of such matters cannot be determined with certainty, the Company’s general counsel and
management believe that the final outcome would not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
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NOTE 9 – INCOME TAXES

The Company recorded tax expense of $0.5 million and $2.7 million for the three months ended July 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  Taxes for the three month
period ended July 31, 2009 reflected a 49.8% effective tax rate including adjustments resulting in a charge of $0.2 million.  The effective tax rate excluding
adjustments was 24.5%.  Taxes for the three months ended July 31, 2008 reflected a 24.6% effective tax rate including adjustments resulting in a charge of $0.2
million.  The effective tax rate excluding adjustments was 23.2%.

The Company recorded a tax benefit of $2.2 million and tax expense of $3.2 million for the six months ended July 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  Taxes for the
six month period ended July 31, 2009 reflected a 20.9% effective tax rate including adjustments resulting in a charge of $0.4 million.  The effective tax rate
excluding adjustments was 24.5%.  Taxes for the six months ended July 31, 2008 reflected a 25.4% effective tax rate including adjustments resulting in a charge
of $0.3 million.  The effective tax rate excluding adjustments was 23.0%.

NOTE 10 – STREAMLINING INITIATIVES

During the second half of fiscal 2009, the Company announced initiatives designed to streamline operations, reduce expenses, and improve efficiencies and
effectiveness across the Company’s global organization.  During fiscal 2009, the Company recorded $8.7 million of severance related accruals.  Any costs
incurred pursuant to these initiatives were recorded in SG&A expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Income.  The Company expects that the remaining
severance related liability will be paid during fiscal 2010.

A summary rollforward of severance related accruals is as follows (in thousands):

  Severance Related 
Balance at January 31, 2009  $ 4,409 
Provision charged   - 
Severance paid   (2,205)
Balance at April 30, 2009   2,204 
Provision charged   - 
Severance paid   (614)
Balance at July 31, 2009  $ 1,590 

NOTE 11 – DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company utilizes derivative financial instruments to reduce foreign currency fluctuation risks. The Company accounts for its derivative financial instruments
in accordance with SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities", as amended and interpreted, which establishes accounting
and reporting standards for derivative instruments and hedging activities.  It requires that an entity recognize all derivatives as either assets or liabilities in the
statement of financial condition and measure those instruments at fair value. Changes in the fair value of those instruments will be reported in earnings or other
comprehensive income depending on the use of the derivative and whether it qualifies for hedge accounting. The accounting for gains and losses associated with
changes in the fair value of the derivative and the effect on the consolidated financial statements will depend on its hedge designation and whether the hedge is
highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in the fair value of cash flows of the asset or liability hedged.

The Company’s risk management policy is to enter into forward exchange contracts and purchase foreign currency options, under certain limitations, to reduce
exposure to adverse fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and, to a lesser extent, in commodity prices related to its purchases of watches. When entered into, the
Company designates and documents these derivative instruments as a cash flow hedge of a specific underlying exposure, as well as the risk
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management objectives and strategies for undertaking the hedge transactions.  Changes in the fair value of a derivative that is designated and documented as a
cash flow hedge and is highly effective, are recorded in other comprehensive income until the underlying transaction affects earnings, and then are later
reclassified into earnings in the same financial statement line item as the hedged transaction.  The Company formally assesses, both at the inception and at each
financial quarter thereafter, the effectiveness of the derivative instrument hedging the underlying forecasted cash flow transaction.  Any ineffectiveness related to
the derivative financial instruments’ change in fair value will be recognized in the period in which the ineffectiveness was calculated.

The Company uses forward exchange contracts to offset its exposure to certain foreign currency liabilities. These forward contracts are not designated as SFAS
No. 133 hedges and, therefore, changes in the fair value of these derivatives are recognized into earnings, thereby offsetting the current earnings effect of the
related foreign currency liabilities.

All of the Company’s derivative instruments have liquid markets to assess fair value.  The Company does not enter into any derivative instruments for trading
purposes.

As of July 31, 2009, the Company’s entire net forward contracts hedging portfolio consisted of 53.0 million Swiss francs equivalent for various expiry dates
ranging through January 21, 2010.

The following table summarizes the fair value and presentation in the consolidated balance sheets for derivatives designated as hedging instruments under SFAS
No. 133 and derivatives not designated as hedging instruments under SFAS No. 133 as of July 31, 2009 (in thousands):

 Asset Derivatives  Liability Derivatives  
 Balance    Balance    
 Sheet  Fair  Sheet  Fair  
 Location  Value  Location  Value  
Derivatives designated as hedging
instruments:         

Foreign Exchange Contracts
Other Current

Assets  $ 228 
Accrued

Liabilities  $ - 
           
Derivatives not designated as hedging
instruments:           

Foreign Exchange Contracts
Other Current

Assets  $ 2,170 
Accrued

Liabilities  $ 5 
           
Total Derivative Instruments   $ 2,398   $ 5 

As of July 31, 2009, the balance of deferred net gains on derivative financial instruments documented as cash flow hedges included in accumulated other
comprehensive income (“AOCI”) was $1.2 million in net gains, net of tax of $0.7 million, compared to $3.8 million in net gains at July 31, 2008, net of tax of
$2.5 million. The Company estimates that a substantial portion of the deferred net gains at July 31, 2009 will be realized into earnings over the next 12 to 24
months as a result of transactions that are expected to occur over that period. The primary underlying transaction which will cause the amount in AOCI to affect
cost of goods sold consists of the Company’s sell through of inventory purchased in Swiss francs. The maximum length of time the Company is hedging its
exposure to the fluctuation in future cash flows for forecasted transactions is 24 months.  For the three months ended July 31, 2009 and 2008, the Company
reclassified from AOCI to earnings $0.5 million of net gains, net of tax of $0.3 million and $0.7 million in net gains, net of tax of $0.4 million, respectively.  For
the six months ended July 31, 2009 and 2008, the Company reclassified from AOCI to earnings $0.8 million of net gains, net of tax of $0.5 million and $1.3
million in net gains, net of tax of $0.8 million, respectively.

During the three months and six months ended July 31, 2009 and 2008, the Company recorded no charge related to its assessment of the effectiveness of its
derivative hedge portfolio because of the high degree of effectiveness between the hedging instrument and the underlying exposure being hedged.
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Changes in the contracts’ fair value due to spot-forward differences are excluded from the designated hedge relationship.  The Company records these transactions
in the cost of sales of the Consolidated Statements of Income.

NOTE 12 – RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In June 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 168, “The FASB Accounting Standards Codification™ and the Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Principles – a
replacement of SFAS No. 162”.  SFAS No. 168 establishes the FASB Accounting Standards Codification (the “Codification”) as the single source of authoritative
GAAP recognized by the FASB to be applied by nongovernmental entities.  All guidance contained in the Codification carries an equal level of
authority.  Following this statement, the FASB will not issue new standards in the form of Statements, FASB Staff Positions, or Emerging Issues Task Force
Abstracts.  Instead, the FASB will issue Accounting Standards Updates which will serve only to update the Codification, provide background information about
the guidance, and provide the bases for conclusions on the changes in the Codification.  The Codification will supersede all existing non-SEC accounting and
reporting standards, as it is effective for financial statements issued for interim and annual periods ending after September 15, 2009.  The adoption of SFAS No.
168 will not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 13 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Company has evaluated all events or transactions that occurred after July 31, 2009 up through September 3, 2009, the date the Company issued these
financial statements.  During this period the Company did not have any material subsequent events.

 
17



 

Item 2.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including, without limitation, statements under Item 2 “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” and elsewhere in this report, as well as statements in future filings by the Company with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, in the Company’s press releases and oral statements made by or with the approval of an authorized executive officer of the Company, which are not
historical in nature, are intended to be, and are hereby identified as, “forward-looking statements” for purposes of the safe harbor provided by the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements are based on current expectations, estimates, forecasts and projections about the Company, its future
performance, the industry in which the Company operates and management’s assumptions. Words such as “expects”, “anticipates”, “targets”, “goals”, “projects”,
“intends”, “plans”, “believes”, “seeks”, “estimates”, “may”, “will”, “should” and variations of such words and similar expressions are also intended to identify
such forward-looking statements. The Company cautions readers that forward-looking statements include, without limitation, those relating to the Company’s
future business prospects, projected operating or financial results, revenues, working capital, liquidity, capital needs, plans for future operations, expectations
regarding capital expenditures and operating expenses, effective tax rates, margins, interest costs, and income as well as assumptions relating to the
foregoing.  Forward-looking statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties, some of which cannot be predicted or quantified.  Actual results and future
events could differ materially from those indicated in the forward-looking statements, due to several important factors herein identified, among others, and other
risks and factors identified from time to time in the Company’s reports filed with the SEC including, without limitation, the following: general economic and
business conditions which may impact disposable income of consumers in the United States and the other significant markets where the Company’s products are
sold, uncertainty regarding such economic and business conditions, trends in consumer debt levels and bad debt write-offs, general uncertainty related to possible
terrorist attacks and the impact on consumer spending, changes in consumer preferences and popularity of particular designs, new product development and
introduction, competitive products and pricing, seasonality, availability of alternative sources of supply in the case of the loss of any significant supplier, the loss
of significant customers, the Company’s dependence on key employees and officers, the ability to successfully integrate the operations of acquired businesses
without disruption to other business activities, the continuation of licensing arrangements with third parties, the ability to secure and protect trademarks, patents
and other intellectual property rights, the ability to lease new stores on suitable terms in desired markets and to complete construction on a timely basis, the ability
of the Company to successfully implement its expense reduction plan, the continued availability to the Company of financing and credit on favorable terms,
business disruptions, disease, general risks associated with doing business outside the United States including, without limitation, import duties, tariffs, quotas,
political and economic stability, and success of hedging strategies with respect to currency exchange rate fluctuations.

These risks and uncertainties, along with the risk factors discussed under Item 1A “Risk Factors” in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, should be
considered in evaluating any forward-looking statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or incorporated by reference herein. All forward-
looking statements speak only as of the date of this report or, in the case of any document incorporated by reference, the date of that document. All subsequent
written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to the Company or any person acting on its behalf are qualified by the cautionary statements in this
section. The Company undertakes no obligation to update or publicly release any revisions to forward-looking statements to reflect events, circumstances or
changes in expectations after the date of this report.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial
statements. These estimates and assumptions also affect the reported amounts of revenues and expenses.  Estimates by their nature are based on judgments and
available information. Therefore, actual results could materially differ from those estimates under different assumptions and conditions.

Critical accounting policies are those that are most important to the portrayal of the Company’s financial condition and the results of operations and require
management’s most difficult, subjective and complex judgments as a result of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain.
The Company’s most critical accounting policies have been discussed in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 31, 2009.

As of July 31, 2009, there have been no material changes to any of the critical accounting policies as disclosed in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended January 31, 2009.
 
Effective February 1, 2009, the Company adopted SFAS No. 141(R), “Business Combinations”, which changed how business combinations are accounted for and
will impact financial statements both on the acquisition date and in subsequent periods.  SFAS 141(R) will be applied on all future acquisitions.
 
Effective February 1, 2009, the Company adopted SFAS No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements”. SFAS No. 160 amends
Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, “Consolidated Financial Statements” and requires (i) classification of noncontrolling interests, commonly referred to as
minority interests, within stockholders’ equity, (ii) net income to include the net income attributable to the noncontrolling interest and (iii) enhanced disclosure of
activity related to noncontrolling interests. In accordance with SFAS No. 160, the Company reclassified the noncontrolling interest to a separate component within
equity on the Consolidated Balance Sheets and separately presented the net income attributable to the noncontrolling interest on the Consolidated Statements of
Income.
 
Effective February 1, 2009, the Company adopted SFAS No. 161, “Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities – an amendment of FASB
Statement No. 133”, which changes the disclosure requirements for derivative instruments and hedging activities. The Company is required to provide enhanced
disclosures about how and why it uses derivative instruments, how they are accounted for, and how they affect the Company’s financial performance.  See Note
11, Derivative Financial Instruments.

Effective July 1, 2009, the Company adopted SFAS No. 165, “Subsequent Events”, which requires the Company to disclose material events that occur after the
balance sheet date but before financial statements are issued or are available to be issued.  See Note 13, Subsequent Events.

Recent Developments

Economic conditions both in the United States and around the world have deteriorated since the beginning of fiscal 2009.  As the events that have caused this
deterioration continue to unfold, the Company does not have significant, meaningful visibility into the further effects they could have on the U.S. and the global
economy, although they likely will continue to have a negative impact on the Company’s sales and profits throughout fiscal 2010.  Nevertheless, the Company
intends to continue to take actions to appropriately manage its business while strategically positioning itself for long-term success, including:

·  capitalizing on the strength of the Company’s brands to gain market share across all price categories;

 
19



 

·  continuing to manage expenses that began with the expense reduction initiatives implemented throughout fiscal 2009;
·  working with retail customers to help them better manage their inventory, improve their productivity and reduce credit risk; and
·  continuing to tightly manage cash and inventory levels.

On April 9, 2009, the Company announced that its Board of Directors has decided to discontinue the quarterly cash dividend.  This decision was based on the
Company’s desire to retain capital during the current challenging economic environment.  Under the Amended Loan Agreement described below, dividends are
prohibited until certain financial performance measures are achieved.

On June 5, 2009, the Company, together with Movado Group Delaware Holdings Corporation, Movado Retail Group, Inc. and Movado LLC (together with the
Company, the “Borrowers”), each a wholly-owned domestic subsidiary of the Company, entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (the “Existing Loan
Agreement”) with Bank of America, N.A. (as agent and lender thereunder).  The Existing Loan Agreement provided for a $50.0 million asset based senior secured
revolving credit facility (the “Facility”), including a $15.0 million letter of credit subfacility, maturing on June 5, 2012.  Upon entering into the Existing Loan
Agreement, the Company borrowed $40.0 million under the Facility which, along with cash already on-hand, it used to pay down all outstanding amounts due
under its Series A Senior Notes, Senior Series A-2004 Notes and Former US Credit Agreement, and terminated these agreements.  The Company also terminated
its Swiss Credit Agreement and its two U.S. uncommitted line of credit agreements effective June 5, 2009.

On July 17, 2009, the Company amended the Existing Loan Agreement (the “Amended Loan Agreement”) to add Bank Leumi USA as a lender and to increase
the size of the Borrowers’ asset based senior secured revolving credit facility from $50.0 million to $55.0 million, including a $15.0 million letter of credit
subfacility.  For more information on the Company’s current and terminated debt and credit arrangements, see Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Overview

The Company conducts its business primarily in two operating segments: Wholesale and Retail.  The Company’s Wholesale segment includes the designing,
manufacturing and distribution of quality watches.  The Retail segment includes the Movado Boutiques and outlet stores.

The Company divides its watch business into distinct categories.  The luxury category consists of the Ebel® and Concord® brands.  The accessible luxury
category consists of the Movado® and ESQ® brands.  The licensed brands category represents brands distributed under license agreements and includes Coach®,
HUGO BOSS®, Juicy Couture®, Lacoste® and Tommy Hilfiger®.
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Results of operations for the three months ended July 31, 2009 as compared to the three months ended July 31, 2008

Net Sales: Comparative net sales by business segment were as follows (in thousands):

  
Three Months Ended

July 31,  
  2009   2008  
       
Wholesale:       

United States  $ 33,138  $ 48,010 
International   36,442   59,016 

Total Wholesale   69,580   107,026 
         
Retail   20,121   22,663 
         
Net Sales  $ 89,701  $ 129,689 

Net sales for the three months ended July 31, 2009 were $89.7 million, below prior year by $40.0 million or 30.8%.  Excluding $1.0 million of liquidation of
excess discontinued inventory in the current year period, net sales were $88.7 million, or below the prior year by 31.6%.  The Company is presenting net sales and
gross margin excluding sales of excess discontinued inventory because the Company believes that it is useful to investors to eliminate the effect of these unusual
items in order to improve the comparability of the Company’s results for the periods presented.  As a result of the stronger U.S. dollar compared to the prior year
period and the translation from the international subsidiaries’ financial results, the effect of foreign currency reduced net sales in the three months ended July 31,
2009 by $2.9 million.

Net sales in the wholesale segment were $69.6 million, below prior year by $37.4 million or 35.0%.  Excluding $1.0 million of liquidation of excess discontinued
inventory in the current year period, net sales in the wholesale segment were $68.6 million, or below the prior year by 35.9%.  The decrease in wholesale net sales
was primarily attributable to the unfavorable impact of the ongoing difficult global economic environment as lower sales were recorded in all watch categories
when compared to the prior year period.

Net sales in the U.S. wholesale segment were $33.1 million, below prior year by $14.9 million or 31.0%.  Excluding  $1.0 million of liquidation of excess
discontinued inventory in the current year period, net sales in the U.S. wholesale segment were $32.1 million, or below prior year by 33.0%.   The decrease in
U.S. wholesale net sales was primarily attributable to the unfavorable impact of the ongoing difficult U.S. economic environment as lower sales were recorded in
the luxury and accessible luxury watch categories when compared to the prior year period.  Net sales in the licensed brand watch category were flat compared to
the prior year period.

Net sales in the international wholesale segment were $36.4 million, below prior year by $22.6 million or 38.3%.  The decrease in international wholesale net
sales was primarily attributable to the unfavorable impact of the ongoing difficult global economic environment as lower sales were recorded in all watch
categories when compared to the prior year period.  As a result of the stronger U.S. dollar compared to the prior year period and the translation from the
international subsidiaries’ financial results, the effect of foreign currency reduced net sales in the three months ended July 31, 2009 by $2.9 million.

Net sales in the retail segment were $20.1 million, below prior year by $2.5 million or 11.2%.  The decrease in sales was the result of lower sales in both the
Movado Boutiques and the Company’s outlet stores, primarily attributable to
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the ongoing difficult U.S. economic environment.  As of July 31, 2009, the Company operated 27 Movado Boutiques and 31 outlet stores.  As of July 31, 2008,
the Company operated 29 Movado Boutiques and 31 outlet stores.

Gross Profit.  Gross profit for the three months ended July 31, 2009 was $52.7 million or 58.7% of net sales as compared to $83.2 million or 64.1% of net sales
for the three months ended July 31, 2008.  The gross margin percentage was negatively impacted during the three months ended July 31, 2009 by $1.0 million of
liquidation sales of excess discontinued inventory.  Excluding the sales of excess discontinued inventory recorded in the current year, the gross margin percentage
for the three months ended July 31, 2009 was 59.3%.  The decrease in gross profit of $30.5 million was primarily attributable to the decrease in sales volume year-
over-year.  The decrease in gross margin percentage was driven by the mix of sales in the wholesale segment and lower margins in the retail segment resulting
from in-store promotions in effect during the three months ended July 31, 2009.

Selling, General and Administrative  (“SG&A”). SG&A expenses for the three months ended July 31, 2009 were $49.5 million as compared to $72.0 million for
the three months ended July 31, 2008, representing a decrease of $22.5 million or 31.2%.  The decrease in SG&A expenses was as a result of the Company’s
initiatives to streamline operations and reduce expenses, which included lower marketing expenses for the three months ended July 31, 2009 of $7.5 million,
lower payroll and related expenses of $5.3 million which were primarily the result of headcount reductions, lower expenses in the retail segment of $2.1 million
due in part to the closing of three stores, lower travel and related expenses of $1.1 million and reduced expenses on tradeshows and conventions of $1.0
million.  As a result of the challenging global economy, the Company recorded lower performance based compensation of $1.8 million when compared to the
prior year period.  Additionally, as a result of the stronger U.S. dollar compared to the prior year period and the translation of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries’
results, the effect of foreign currency favorably impacted SG&A expenses for the three months ended July 31, 2009 by $0.8 million.  SG&A expenses in the prior
year period included $2.2 million of severance related costs associated with the implementation of the Company’s initiatives to streamline operations and reduce
expenses.

Wholesale Operating Income.  Operating income of $2.3 million and $10.9 million was recorded in the wholesale segment for the three months ended July 31,
2009 and 2008, respectively.  The $8.6 million decrease in profit was the net result of a decrease in gross profit of $28.3 million partially offset by a decrease in
SG&A expenses of $19.7 million.  The decrease in gross profit of $28.3 million was primarily attributed to the decrease in sales year-over-year resulting from the
ongoing difficult global economic environment.  The decrease in SG&A expenses of $19.7 million was driven by lower marketing expenses of $6.8 million, lower
payroll and related expenses of $5.3 million which were primarily the result of headcount reductions, lower travel and related expenses of $1.1 million and
reduced expenses on tradeshows and conventions of $1.0 million.  As a result of the challenging global economy, the Company recorded lower performance based
compensation of $1.8 million when compared to the prior year period. Additionally, as a result of the stronger U.S. dollar when compared to the prior year period
and the translation of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries’ results, the effect of foreign currency favorably impacted SG&A expenses for the three months ended
July 31, 2009 by $0.8 million.  SG&A expenses in the prior year period included $2.2 million of severance related costs associated with the implementation of the
Company’s initiatives to streamline operations and reduce expenses.

Retail Operating Income.  Operating income of $0.8 million and $0.2 million was recorded in the retail segment for the three months ended July 31, 2009 and
2008, respectively.  The $0.6 million increase in profit was the net result of a decrease in gross profit of $2.2 million more than offset by a decrease in SG&A
expenses of $2.8 million.  The decrease in gross profit was primarily attributable to the decrease in gross profit percentage year-over-year resulting from in-store
promotions in effect during the current year period.  The decrease in SG&A expenses was primarily the result of the Company’s initiatives to streamline
operations and reduce expenses and the closing of three stores that were open during the prior year period.

Interest Expense.  Interest expense for the three months ended July 31, 2009 and 2008 was $2.3 million and $0.8 million, respectively.  Interest expense in the
current period includes expenses and fees associated with the
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refinancing and repayment of the Company’s former credit and note agreements which included a non-cash pre-tax charge of $0.2 million related to the
accelerated recognition of deferred financing costs and a pre-tax charge of $1.1 million for fees due to the former lenders.  Excluding these expenses and fees,
interest expense for the three months ended July 31, 2009 was $1.0 million.  Interest expense increased due to a higher average borrowing rate somewhat offset by
lower average borrowings year-over-year.
 
Interest Income.  Interest income was $0.1 million and $0.5 million for the three months ended July 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  The lower interest income is
attributed to less cash invested and a lower average interest rate earned year-over-year.

Income Taxes.  The Company recorded tax expense of $0.5 million and $2.7 million for the three months ended July 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  Taxes for
the three month period ended July 31, 2009 reflected a 49.8% effective tax rate including adjustments resulting in a charge of $0.2 million.  The effective tax rate
excluding adjustments was 24.5%.  Taxes for the three months ended July 31, 2008 reflected a 24.6% effective tax rate including adjustments resulting in a charge
of $0.2 million.  The effective tax rate excluding adjustments was 23.2%.

Net Income.  For the three months ended July 31, 2009, the Company recorded net income of $0.5 million as compared to net income of $8.1 million for the three
months ended July 31, 2008.

Results of operations for the six months ended July 31, 2009 as compared to the six months ended July 31, 2008

Net Sales: Comparative net sales by business segment were as follows (in thousands):

  
Six Months Ended

July 31,  
  2009   2008  
       
Wholesale:       

United States  $ 55,857  $ 85,189 
International   65,552   107,088 

Total Wholesale   121,409   192,277 
         
Retail   35,867   38,765 
         
Net Sales  $ 157,276  $ 231,042 

Net sales for the six months ended July 31, 2009 were $157.3 million, below prior year by $73.8 million or 31.9%.  Excluding $5.3 million of liquidation of
excess discontinued inventory in the current year period, net sales were $152.0 million, or below the prior year by 34.2%.  As a result of the stronger U.S. dollar
when compared to the prior year period and the translation from the international subsidiaries’ financial results, the effect of foreign currency reduced net sales in
the six months ended July 31, 2009 by $6.8 million.

Net sales in the wholesale segment were $121.4 million, below prior year by $70.9 million or 36.9%.  Excluding $5.3 million of liquidation of excess
discontinued inventory in the current year period, net sales in the wholesale segment were $116.1 million, or below the prior year by 39.6%.  The decrease in
wholesale net sales was primarily attributable to the unfavorable impact of the ongoing difficult global economic environment as lower sales were recorded in all
watch categories when compared to the prior year period.

Net sales in the U.S. wholesale segment were $55.9 million, below prior year by $29.3 million or 34.4%.  Excluding $5.3 million of liquidation of excess
discontinued inventory in the current year period, net sales in the U.S. wholesale segment were $50.6 million, or below prior year by 40.6%.   The decrease in
U.S. wholesale net sales was primarily
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attributable to the unfavorable impact of the ongoing difficult U.S. economic environment as lower sales were recorded in all watch categories when compared to
the prior year period.

Net sales in the international wholesale segment were $65.6 million, below prior year by $41.5 million or 38.8%.  The decrease in international wholesale net
sales was primarily attributable to the unfavorable impact of the ongoing difficult global economic environment as lower sales were recorded in all watch
categories when compared to the prior year period.  As a result of the stronger U.S. dollar compared to the prior year period and the translation from the
international subsidiaries’ financial results, the effect of foreign currency reduced net sales in the six months ended July 31, 2009 by $6.8 million.

Net sales in the retail segment were $35.9 million, below prior year by $2.9 million or 7.5%.  The decrease in sales was the result of lower sales in both the
Movado Boutiques and the Company’s outlet stores, primarily attributable to the ongoing difficult U.S. economic environment.

Gross Profit.  Gross profit for the six months ended July 31, 2009 was $89.7 million or 57.0% of net sales as compared to $147.5 million or 63.8% of net sales for
the six months ended July 31, 2008.  The gross margin percentage was negatively impacted during the six months ended July 31, 2009 by $5.3 million of
liquidation sales of excess discontinued inventory.  Excluding the sales of excess discontinued inventory recorded in the current year, the gross margin percentage
for the six months ended July 31, 2009 was 59.5%.  The decrease in gross profit of $57.8 million was primarily attributable to the decrease in sales volume year-
over-year.  The decrease in gross margin percentage was driven by the mix of sales by business in the wholesale segment and lower margins in the retail segment
resulting from in-store promotions in effect during the six months ended July 31, 2009.

Selling, General and Administrative  (“SG&A”). SG&A expenses for the six months ended July 31, 2009 were $97.7 million as compared to $134.8 million for
the six months ended July 31, 2008, representing a decrease of $37.1 million or 27.5%.  The decrease in SG&A expenses was a result of the Company’s initiatives
to streamline operations and reduce expenses, which included lower marketing expenses for the six months ended July 31, 2009 of $13.7 million, lower payroll
and related expenses of $10.7 million which were primarily the result of headcount reductions, lower expenses in the retail segment of $3.1 million due in part to
the closing of three stores and lower travel and related expenses of $2.3 million.  As a result of the challenging global economy, the Company recorded lower
performance based compensation of $2.3 million when compared to the prior year period. Additionally, as a result of the stronger U.S. dollar compared to the
prior year period and the translation of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries’ results, the effect of foreign currency favorably impacted SG&A expenses for the six
months ended July 31, 2009 by $2.1 million.  SG&A expenses in the prior year period included $2.2 million of severance related costs associated with the
implementation of the Company’s initiatives to streamline operations and reduce expenses.

Wholesale Operating Income / (Loss).  Operating loss of $6.0 million was recorded in the wholesale segment for the six months ended July 31, 2009 compared to
operating income of $15.5 million recorded for the six months ended July 31, 2008.  The $21.5 million decrease in profit was the net result of a decrease in gross
profit of $54.3 million partially offset by a decrease in SG&A expenses of $32.8 million.  The decrease in gross profit of $54.3 million was primarily attributed to
the decrease in sales year-over-year resulting from the ongoing difficult global economic environment.  The decrease in SG&A expenses of $32.8 million was
driven by lower marketing expenses of $12.6 million, lower payroll and related expenses of $10.7 million which were primarily the result of headcount reductions
and lower travel and related expenses of $2.3 million.  As a result of the challenging global economy, the Company recorded lower performance based
compensation of $2.3 million when compared to the prior year period. Additionally, as a result of the stronger U.S. dollar compared to the prior year period and
the translation of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries’ results, the effect of foreign currency favorably impacted SG&A expenses for the six months ended July 31,
2009 by $2.1 million.  SG&A expenses in the prior year period included $2.2 million of severance related costs associated with the implementation of the
Company’s initiatives to streamline operations and reduce expenses.

 
24



 

Retail Operating Loss.  Operating losses of $2.0 million and $2.7 million were recorded in the retail segment for the six months ended July 31, 2009 and 2008,
respectively.  The $0.7 million decrease in the loss was the net result of a decrease in gross profit of $3.5 million more than offset by a decrease in SG&A
expenses of $4.2 million.  The decrease in gross profit was primarily attributable to the decrease in gross profit percentage year-over-year resulting from in-store
promotions in effect during the current year period.  The decrease in SG&A expenses was primarily the result of the Company’s initiatives to streamline
operations and reduce expenses and the closing of three stores that were open during the prior year period.

Interest Expense.  Interest expense for the six months ended July 31, 2009 and 2008 was $2.8 million and $1.5 million, respectively.  Interest expense in the
current period includes expenses and fees associated with the refinancing and repayment of the Company’s former credit and note agreements which included a
non-cash pre-tax charge of $0.2 million related to the accelerated recognition of deferred financing costs and a pre-tax charge of $1.1 million for fees due to the
former lenders.  Excluding these expenses and fees, interest expense for the six months ended July 31, 2009 was $1.5 million or flat to the prior year.  
 
Interest Income.  Interest income was $0.2 million and $1.5 million for the six months ended July 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  The lower interest income is
attributed to less cash invested and a lower average interest rate earned year-over-year.

Income Taxes.  The Company recorded a tax benefit of $2.2 million and tax expense of $3.2 million for the six months ended July 31, 2009 and 2008,
respectively.  Taxes for the six month period ended July 31, 2009 reflected a 20.9% effective tax rate including adjustments resulting in a charge of $0.4 million. 
The effective tax rate excluding adjustments was 24.5%.  Taxes for the six months ended July 31, 2008 reflected a 25.4% effective tax rate including adjustments
resulting in a charge of $0.3 million.  The effective tax rate excluding adjustments was 23.0%.

Net Income / (Loss).  For the six months ended July 31, 2009, the Company recorded a net loss of $8.4 million as compared to net income of $9.4 million for the
six months ended July 31, 2008.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Cash used in operating activities was $18.6 million and $33.9 million for the six months ended July 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  The cash used in operating
activities for the six months ended July 31, 2009 was primarily the result of the net loss of $8.4 million for the period and an inventory build of $11.4
million.  The cash used in operating activities for the six months ended July 31, 2008 was primarily the result of an inventory build of $31.0 million.  The increase
in inventory in the current period is primarily due to the decrease in sales volume as a result of the economic downturn.  The increase in inventory in the prior year
period reflected the seasonal nature of the business with the Company building inventory for the upcoming holiday season.
 
Cash used in investing activities amounted to $3.1 million and $11.7 million for the six months ended July 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  The cash used during
both periods consisted of tooling and design expenditures and capital expenditures of computer hardware and software.  The acquisition of computer hardware
and software in both periods is primarily related to the development and implementation of the new SAP enterprise resource planning system.  Capital
expenditures in the prior year period also included spending related to the expansion and renovation of retail stores and construction of booths used at the
Baselworld watch and jewelry show.

Cash used in financing activities amounted to $18.8 million and $44.3 million for the six months ended July 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  Cash used in
financing activities for the current period was primarily used to pay down long-term debt, to pay financing fees related to the new loan agreement and to pay
dividends that were declared in the fourth quarter of the prior year.  Cash used in financing activities for the prior period was primarily used to repurchase stock,
pay down long-term debt and to pay out dividends.  Additionally, in both periods, cash used in financing activities were partially offset by additional bank
borrowings.
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On June 5, 2009, the Company, together with Movado Group Delaware Holdings Corporation, Movado Retail Group, Inc. and Movado LLC (together with the
Company, the “Borrowers”), each a wholly-owned domestic subsidiary of the Company, entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (the “Existing Loan
Agreement”) with Bank of America, N.A. as agent and lender thereunder.  The Existing Loan Agreement provided for a $50.0 million asset based senior secured
revolving credit facility, including a $15.0 million letter of credit subfacility, that matures on June 5, 2012.

On July 17, 2009, the Borrowers entered into an Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement (the “Amended Loan Agreement”) with Bank of America,
N.A. and Bank Leumi USA, as lenders, and Bank of America, N.A., as agent (in such capacity, the “Agent”), which amended and restated the Existing Loan
Agreement.  The Amended Loan Agreement added Bank Leumi USA as a lender thereunder and, to accommodate Bank Leumi USA holding up to $15.0 million
of the Borrowers’ obligations thereunder, increased the size of the Borrowers’ asset based senior secured revolving credit facility (the “Facility”) from $50.0
million to $55.0 million, including a $15.0 million letter of credit subfacility.  The maturity date of the Facility is June 5, 2012.

Availability is determined by reference to a borrowing base which is based on the sum of a percentage of eligible accounts receivable and eligible inventory of the
Borrowers.  $10.0 million in availability is blocked until the date (the “Block Release Date”) on which the Borrowers have achieved for a four fiscal quarter
period a consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio of at least 1.25 to 1.0 and have domestic EBITDA greater than $10.0 million.  The availability block must
remain in place for at least one year. The amount of the availability block will be reduced by the amount by which the borrowing base exceeds $55.0 million, up
to a maximum reduction of $5.0 million.  Availability under the Facility may be further reduced by certain reserves established by the Agent in its good faith
credit judgment.

The initial applicable margin for LIBOR rate loans is 4.25% and for base rate loans is 3.25%. After July 17, 2010, the applicable margins decrease or increase by
0.25% per annum from the initial applicable margins depending on whether average availability for the most recently completed fiscal quarter is either greater
than $12.5 million, or is $5.0 million or less, respectively.  The Company has also agreed to pay certain fees and expenses and provide certain indemnities, all of
which are customary for such financings.

Prior to the Block Release Date, if borrowing availability is less than $10.0 million (this threshold may be reduced to the extent the borrowing base exceeds $55.0
million, up to a maximum $5.0 million reduction), Borrowers will be subject to a minimum EBITDA covenant.  After the Block Release Date, Borrowers will be
subject to a minimum EBITDA covenant if borrowing availability is less than $15.0 million.  As of July 31, 2009, the Borrowers were not subject to the minimum
EBITDA covenant.
 
In addition, after the Block Release Date, if borrowing availability is less than $15.0 million, Borrowers will be subject to a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio.

Finally, the Borrowers’ deposit accounts will be subject to cash dominion prior to the Block Release Date if borrowing availability is less than $7.5 million, but
such threshold may be reduced to the extent the borrowing base exceeds $55.0 million, up to a maximum $5.0 million reduction.  After the Block Release Date,
cash dominion will be imposed if borrowing availability is less than $15.0 million.  As of July 31, 2009, the Borrowers were not subject to cash dominion nor do
the Borrowers expect to be subject to such a requirement in the foreseeable future.

The Amended Loan Agreement contains affirmative and negative covenants binding on the Borrowers and their subsidiaries that are customary for asset based
facilities, including restrictions and limitations on the incurrence of debt for borrowed money and liens, dispositions of assets of the Borrowers, capital
expenditures, dividends and other payments in respect of equity interests, the making of loans and equity investments, prepayments of subordinated and certain
other debt, mergers, consolidations, liquidations and dissolutions, and transactions with affiliates.

The Amended Loan Agreement contains events of default that are customary for facilities of this type, including, but not limited to, nonpayment of principal,
interest, fees and other amounts when due, failure of any representation or
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warranty to be true in any material respect when made or deemed made, violation of covenants, cross default, material judgments, material ERISA liability,
bankruptcy events, material loss of collateral in excess of insured amounts, asserted or actual revocation or invalidity of the loan documents, change of control and
events or circumstances having a material adverse effect.

The borrowings under the Facility are joint and several obligations of the Borrowers and also cross-guaranteed by each Borrower.  In addition, the Borrowers’
obligations under the Facility are secured by first priority liens, subject to permitted liens, on substantially all of the Borrowers’ U.S. assets other than certain
excluded assets.

On June 5, 2009, $40.0 million in loans were drawn under the Facility, which were used, in part, to repay amounts outstanding under the Company’s former U.S.
credit facility with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (“JPM Chase”) (the “Former US Facility”), which was terminated.  In addition, approximately $1.5 million in
letters of credit were issued, which were used to backstop letters of credit and other obligations outstanding in connection with the Former US Facility.  As of July
31, 2009, total availability under the Facility, giving effect to the availability block, the $40.0 million borrowing and the letters of credit, was $8.5 million.

A Swiss subsidiary of the Company maintains unsecured lines of credit with an unspecified length of time with a Swiss bank.  Available credit under these lines
totaled 8.0 million Swiss francs, with dollar equivalents of $7.4 million and $7.6 million at July 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.  As of July 31, 2009, two
European banks have guaranteed obligations to third parties on behalf of two of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries in the amount of $1.6 million in various
foreign currencies.  As of July 31, 2009, there were no outstanding borrowings against these lines.

On April 9, 2009, the Company announced that its Board of Directors has decided to discontinue the quarterly cash dividend.  This decision was based on the
Company’s desire to retain capital during the current challenging economic environment.  Under the Amended Loan Agreement, dividends are prohibited until
certain financial performance measures are achieved.  The Company paid dividends of $0.05 per share or approximately $1.2 million for the six months ended
July 31, 2009, which were declared in the prior year and $0.16 per share or approximately $4.0 million for the six months ended July 31, 2008.

Cash at July 31, 2009 amounted to $47.5 million compared to $84.5 million at July 31, 2008.  The decrease in cash is primarily the result of cash used to pay
down long-term debt and for capital expenditures.  In the prior year, cash was also used to pay down long-term debt and for the share repurchase programs.  The
decrease from the prior year was somewhat offset by additional bank borrowings.

Management believes that the cash on hand in addition to the expected cash flow from operations and the Company’s short-term borrowing capacity will be
sufficient to meet its working capital needs for at least the next 12 months.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Company does not have off-balance sheet financing or unconsolidated special-purpose entities.

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In June 2009, the FASB issued SFAS No. 168, “The FASB Accounting Standards Codification™ and the Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Principles – a
replacement of SFAS No. 162”.  SFAS No. 168 establishes the FASB Accounting Standards Codification (the “Codification”) as the single source of authoritative
GAAP recognized by the FASB to be applied by nongovernmental entities.  All guidance contained in the Codification carries an equal level of
authority.  Following this statement, the FASB will not issue new standards in the form of Statements, FASB Staff Positions, or Emerging Issues Task Force
Abstracts.  Instead, the FASB will issue Accounting Standards Updates which will serve only to update the Codification, provide background information about
the guidance, and provide the bases for conclusions on the changes in the Codification.  The Codification will supersede all existing non-SEC
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accounting and reporting standards, as it is effective for financial statements issued for interim and annual periods ending after September 15, 2009.  The adoption
of SFAS No. 168 will not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Foreign Currency and Commodity Price Risk

A significant portion of the Company’s purchases are denominated in Swiss francs.  The Company reduces its exposure to the Swiss franc exchange rate risk
through a hedging program.  Under the hedging program, the Company manages most of its foreign currency exposures on a consolidated basis, which allows it to
net certain exposures and take advantage of natural offsets.  The Company uses various derivative financial instruments to further reduce the net exposures to
currency fluctuations, predominately forward and option contracts.  These derivatives either (a) are used to hedge the Company’s Swiss franc liabilities and are
recorded at fair value with the changes in fair value reflected in earnings or (b) are documented as cash flow hedges with the gains and losses on this latter
hedging activity first reflected in other comprehensive income, and then later classified into earnings in accordance with SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities", as amended by SFAS No. 137, SFAS No. 138 and SFAS No. 149.  In both cases, the earnings impact is partially
offset by the effects of currency movements on the underlying hedged transactions.  If the Company did not engage in a hedging program, any change in the
Swiss franc to local currency would have an equal effect on the Company’s cost of sales.  In addition, the Company hedges its Swiss franc payable exposure with
forward contracts.  As of July 31, 2009, the Company’s entire net forward contracts hedging portfolio consisted of 53.0 million Swiss francs equivalent for various
expiry dates ranging through January 21, 2010.  If the Company were to settle its Swiss franc forward contracts at July 31, 2009, the net result would have been a
gain of $1.5 million, net of tax of $0.9 million.  As of July 31, 2009, the Company had no Swiss franc option contracts related to cash flow hedges.

The Company’s Board of Directors authorized the hedging of the Company’s Swiss franc denominated investment in its wholly-owned Swiss subsidiaries using
purchase options under certain limitations. These hedges are treated as net investment hedges under SFAS No. 133.  As of July 31, 2009, the Company did not
hold a purchased option hedge portfolio related to net investment hedging.

Commodity Risk

Additionally, the Company has the ability under the hedging program to reduce its exposure to fluctuations in commodity prices, primarily related to gold used in
the manufacturing of the Company’s watches. Under this hedging program, the Company can purchase various commodity derivative instruments, primarily
future contracts. These derivatives are documented as SFAS No. 133 cash flow hedges, and gains and losses on these derivative instruments are first reflected in
other comprehensive income, and later reclassified into earnings, partially offset by the effects of gold market price changes on the underlying actual gold
purchases.  The Company did not hold any future contracts in its gold hedge portfolio related to cash flow hedges as of July 31, 2009, thus any changes in the gold
price will impact the Company’s cost of sales.

Debt and Interest Rate Risk

In addition, the Company has certain debt obligations with variable interest rates, which are based on LIBOR plus a fixed additional interest rate.  The Company
does not hedge these interest rate risks.  The Company believes that a 1% change in interest rates would affect the Company’s net income by approximately $0.4
million for the year.
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Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company, under the supervision and with the participation of its management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer,
evaluated the effectiveness of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures, as such terms are defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act,
as amended. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company's disclosure controls and
procedures are effective at a reasonable assurance level as of the end of the period covered by this report.

The Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives, and the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that such disclosure controls and procedures are effective at that reasonable assurance
level.  However, it should be noted that a control system, no matter how well conceived or operated, can only provide reasonable, not absolute, assurance that its
objectives will be met and may not prevent all errors or instances of fraud.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

During the first quarter of fiscal 2010, the Company implemented an ERP system in all of its wholesale businesses to support the Company’s business
plan.  Implementing an ERP system on a global basis involves significant changes in business processes and extensive personnel training.  The Company believes
it has taken the necessary steps to monitor and maintain its internal control baseline upon go-live, deploying qualified resources to mitigate internal control risks
and performing pre-implementation testing and verification to ensure data integrity.

Moreover, the Company believes its process owners understand the controls they are expected to perform as part of the utilization of the new system.
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1.  Legal Proceedings

The Company is involved in pending legal proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of business.  Although the outcome of such matters cannot be
determined with certainty, the Company’s general counsel and management believe that the final outcome would not have a material effect on the Company’s
consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Reference is made to the information disclosed under Item 1 — “Legal Proceedings” in the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
April 30, 2009. The following is a summary of recent litigation developments.
 
The Company participated in mediation proceedings with respect to the case of Bertha V. Norman, et al. v. Movado Company Store, United States District Court,
Central District of California, 2008-cv-6691 and agreed to settle the case. The settlement, which remains subject to Court approval, provides for the Company to
pay a stipulated amount representing plaintiffs’ attorney’s fees and costs and compensation for class members who timely submit claim forms. The Company has
previously booked a reserve which it believes is adequate to cover the entire settlement amount.

Item 1A.  Risk Factors

As of July 31, 2009, there have been no material changes to any of the risk factors previously reported in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended January 31, 2009.

Item 2.  Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

On December 4, 2007, the Board of Directors authorized a program to repurchase up to one million shares of the Company’s Common Stock.  Shares of Common
Stock were repurchased from time to time as market conditions warranted either through open market transactions, block purchases, private transactions or other
means.  The objective of the program was to reduce or eliminate earnings per share dilution caused by the shares of Common Stock issued upon the exercise of
stock options and in connection with other equity based compensation plans.  As of April 14, 2008, the Company had completed the one million share repurchase
in the first quarter of fiscal 2009, at a total cost of approximately $19.4 million, or $19.41 per share.

On April 15, 2008, the Board of Directors announced a new authorization to repurchase up to an additional one million shares of the Company’s Common
Stock.  Under this authorization, the Company has the option to repurchase shares over time, with the amount and timing of repurchases depending on market
conditions and corporate needs.  The Company entered into a Rule 10b5-1 plan to facilitate repurchases of its shares under this authorization.  A Rule 10b5-1 plan
permits a company to repurchase shares at times when it might otherwise be prevented from doing so, provided the plan is adopted when the company is not
aware of material non-public information.  The Company may suspend or discontinue the repurchase of stock at any time.  Under this share repurchase program,
the Company had repurchased a total of 937,360 shares of Common Stock in the open market during the first and second quarters of fiscal year 2009 at a total
cost of approximately $19.5 million or $20.79 per share.  During the six months ended July 31, 2009, the Company has not repurchased shares of Common Stock.

An aggregate of 5,991 shares have been repurchased during the six months ended July 31, 2009 as a result of the surrender of shares in connection with the
vesting of certain restricted stock awards.  At the election of an employee, shares having an aggregate value on the vesting date equal to the employee’s
withholding tax obligation may be surrendered to the Company.
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The following table summarizes information about the Company’s purchases for the period ended July 31, 2009 of equity securities that are registered by the
Company pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934:

Issuer Repurchase of Equity Securities  

Period  

Total
Number
of Shares
Purchased  

Average
Price Paid
Per Share   

Total
Number of

Shares
Purchased
as Part of
Publicly

Announced
Plans or

Programs   

Maximum
Number
of Shares
that May
Yet Be

Purchased
Under the
Plans or

Programs  
February 1, 2009 - February 28, 2009   2,835  $ 7.29   -   62,640 
March 1,  2009 - March 31, 2009   2,848  $ 8.24   -   62,640 
April 1, 2009 - April 30, 2009   -   -   -   62,640 
May 1, 2009 - May 31, 2009   -   -   -   62,640 
June 1, 2009 - June 30, 2009   308  $ 9.39   -   62,640 
July 1, 2009 - July 31, 2009   -   -   -   62,640 
Total   5,991  $ 7.85   -   62,640 
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Item 4.  Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

On June 18, 2009, the Company held its annual meeting of shareholders at its Paramus, New Jersey office.

The following matters were voted upon at the meeting:

(i)  Margaret Hayes Adame, Richard Coté, Efraim Grinberg, Alan H. Howard, Richard Isserman, Nathan Leventhal, Donald Oresman and
Leonard L. Silverstein were elected directors of the Company. The results of the vote were as follows:

 
Nominee

  
For

 Withheld/
Against

     
Margaret Hayes
Adame

 80,823,004 159,630

Richard Coté  80,584,830 397,804
Efraim Grinberg  80,655,262 327,372
Alan H. Howard  80,678,053 304,601
Richard Isserman  80,835,639 146,995
Nathan Leventhal  80,835,063 147,571
Donald Oresman  80,646,805 335,829
Leonard L. Silverstein  74,633,965 6,348,669

(ii)  A proposal to ratify the selection of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the Company’s independent public accountants for the fiscal year ending
January 31, 2010 was approved. The results of the vote were as follows:

    
For  Withheld/Against  Exception/Abstain

80,793,674  183,310  5,650

(iii)  A proposal to approve an amendment to, and re-approve the performance based provisions of, the Company’s Amended and Restated Stock
Incentive Plan was approved. The results of the vote were as follows:

 
For  Withheld/Against  Exception/Abstain  Broker Non-Vote

68,159,296  10,928,492  8,469  1,886,377
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Item 6.  Exhibits

                                       10.1 Movado Group, Inc. Executive Performance Share Program.*

10.2  Movado Group, Inc. Executive Performance Share Program Form of Award Agreement.*
 

10.3  Amendment Number 2 to Movado Group, Inc. 1996 Stock Incentive Plan as Amended and Restated as of April 8, 2004.  Incorporated
herein by reference to Annex A to the Registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statement filed with the SEC on May 8, 2009.*

 
10.4  Sixth Amendment to License Agreement dated December 9, 1996 between Registrant and Coach, Inc. effective June 4, 2009.**

 
10.5  Seventh Amendment to License Agreement dated December 9, 1996 between Registrant and Coach, Inc. effective June 4, 2009.**

 
31.1  Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2  Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

32.2  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

               * Constitutes a compensatory plan or arrangement.

           ** Confidential portions of Exhibits 10.4 and 10.5 have been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange
Commission pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.

                             MOVADO
GROUP, INC.
                                                 �  6 0 ; (Registrant)

Dated:              September 3, 2009 By: /s/ Sallie A. DeMarsilis     
  Sallie A. DeMarsilis
  Senior Vice President,
  Chief Financial Officer and
  Principal Accounting Officer
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EXHIBIT 10.1

MOVADO GROUP, INC.
EXECUTIVE PERFORMANCE SHARE PROGRAM

Performance Period
Fiscal 2010

Introduction
The Movado Group, Inc. Executive Performance Share Program (EPSP) is a performance share program that has been established by the Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors of Movado Group, Inc. (the “Committee”) pursuant to Section 9 of the Movado Group, Inc. 1996 Stock Incentive Plan (as
amended and restated, the “Plan”).

Capitalized terms that are not defined below have the meaning given to them in the Plan.  Performance Share Units are equivalent, 1 for 1, to shares of Stock that
vest based on the Company’s achievement of the specified Performance Goal and the continued service of the Plan Participant.

Objectives:
n  Links compensation to the achievement of corporate goals
n  Recognizes competitive practices in executive compensation
n  Focuses key employees on the improvement of the Company’s operating profit
n  Provides greater equity awards for achieving and exceeding goals
n  Assists with the attraction and retention of key management personnel

Type of Award
Your Award is in the form of Performance Share Units as described under Section 9 of the Plan.

Performance Goal
The Performance Goal that will determine the number of shares of Stock, if any, you receive is the Company’s operating profit for the Award Period.  Operating
profit is defined as earnings before interest and taxes, determined in accordance with GAAP as consistently applied by the Company.  In addition to meeting the
operating profit goal, cash flow from operations must be positive for the Award Period.

Award Period
The Award Period, which is the period of time within which performance is measured to determine whether an Award of Performance Share Units has been
earned, is one year ending January 31, 2010.

Size of Individual Awards
Your target Award is expressed as a number of Performance Share Units.  The actual number of shares of Stock earned is based on actual performance at the end
of the Award Period relative to the Performance Goal and can range from 0% to 120% of the target Award depending on the achievement of the operating profit
goal.

Performance Standards
n  The number of shares of Stock earned is determined using the following payout schedule for the Award Period ending January 31, 2010
n  Payouts between performance levels will be based on straight line interpolation

Fiscal 2010 Performance:

Degree of Performance                    Operating                                % of Shares
Attainment                                         Profit FY 10                                Earned
(% of Target Goal)

Maximum (120%)                             $23.8 million                                120%

Target (100%)                                   $19.8 million                                100%

Below Target                                                                                            0%

*Cash flow from operations must be positive

Earn Out and Vesting
n  After the Award Period ends (January 31, 2010), if the Performance Goal is achieved, the shares of Stock represented by the Performance Share Units

will be earned will become vested and be distributed on the third anniversary of the Award grant date (June 18, 2012).
n  Participants must be employed by the Company (or one of its Affiliates) at the end of the Award Period in order to receive the shares of Stock. Shares of

Stock earned at the completion of the Award Period are subject to forfeiture only in the event of the Participant’s voluntary resignation or termination of
the Participant’s employment for Cause. For purposes of this EPSP, the Participant’s employment shall be deemed to be terminated for “Cause” if the
Participant is discharged (i)  on account of fraud, embezzlement or other unlawful or tortious conduct, whether or not involving or against the Company
or any Affiliate,  (ii)  for violation of a written policy of the Company or any Affiliate, (iii) for serious and willful acts of misconduct detrimental to the
business or reputation of the Company or any Affiliate or (iv) for “Cause” or any like term as defined in any written employment contract with the
Participant.



Vesting:  Retirement and Leave of Absence
n  In the event of a Participant’s retirement, permanent disability (as determined by the Committee) or death occurring after the Award Period and before

June 18, 2012, all unvested shares of Stock earned under this EPSP shall immediately vest.

n  For purposes of the EPSP, “retirement” means a Participant’s voluntary resignation (i) at or after age 65, or (ii) before the age of 65 but after age 55
provided the Participant has been employed by the Company (or one of its Affiliates) for at least 10 years and further subject to the specific approval of
the Committee (including any limitations or conditions the Committee may, in its discretion, impose which are not inconsistent with the express terms of
the Plan such as, without limitation, a covenant by the Participant not to compete with the Company).

n  The Committee may in its discretion determine whether any leave of absence (including short-term or long-term disability or medical leave) shall
constitute a termination of employment for purposes of the EPSP.

Vesting and
Distribution Schedule

Target Award:  2,000 Performance Share Units

Actual Performance   # of Shares        # of Shares of Stock Distributed
Level                                 Earned                    2nd Anniversary

Maximum                          2,400                            2,400                      

Target                                2,000                           2,000

Below Target                         0                                0

Payout
n  Awards will be paid in shares of Stock, net of required tax withholding.

Change in Control
n  If there should be a Change in Control before the end of the Award Period, the Performance Share Units awarded will be immediately and automatically

converted on a 1 for 1 basis to time-based Phantom Stock Units without pro-ration which will vest at the third anniversary of the Award grant date (June
18, 2012) and upon vesting, one share of Stock will be distributed for each Phantom Share Unit not previously forfeited.

n  If a Participant’s employment is terminated within 24 months after the Change in Control, the unvested Phantom Stock Units will become immediately
vested.

Miscellaneous
The Committee reserves the right with or without notice, at any time and from time to time, in its sole and absolute discretion to (i) amend or modify in whole or
in part any of the provisions of the EPSP in any respect whatsoever (ii) suspend or cancel the EPSP and (iii) make exceptions to any or all of the provisions of the
EPSP on a case by case basis.

n  This EPSP shall be subject to all of the terms and provisions of the Plan, which are incorporated hereby and made a part hereof.  If there is any
inconsistency between any of the provisions of the EPSP and the Plan, the provisions of the Plan shall govern.

n  Neither the Plan nor the EPSP constitutes a contract of employment and the Company specifically reserves the right to terminate a participant’s
employment at any time with or without Cause and with or without notice or assigning a reason.

 
 



 



 

EXHIBIT 10.2

Form of Award Agreement

TO:

FROM:

DATE:                                July 20, 2009

SUBJECT:                      Executive Performance Share Program

We are pleased to announce the Executive Performance Share Program (EPSP).  Under this program you will earn a stock award if the Company meets or exceeds
its operating profit goal for Fiscal ‘10.  This is a special program for our most senior managers in the Company and you have been selected since you can
significantly influence the attainment of our corporate goals.

You have been granted a target award of ______ performance share units under this program for the performance cycle which runs from February 1, 2009 through
the end of the fiscal year or through January 31, 2010.  If we achieve our target operating profit for fiscal year 2010, you will be eligible to receive 35,000 shares
of common stock, representing 100% of your target award.  If we exceed that goal and reach operating profit of 120% of the target, you will be eligible to receive
42,000 shares representing 120% of your target award.  We will interpolate for share amounts between performance levels.

If the goal is met on January 31, 2010, you will receive the stock on the 3rd anniversary of the grant date or on June 18, 2012 provided you are employed with the
Company (or one of its subsidiaries) on the date the stock is distributed.  Awards will be paid in shares of stock, net of required tax withholding.

Attached is a more detailed description of stock incentive plan.  Please keep in mind that the performance goals under this program are confidential.  If you have
any questions, feel free to call me.

 
 



 



EXHIBIT 10.4

AMENDMENT NUMBER 6
TO LICENSE AGREEMENT

This amendment dated as of November 15, 2008 (the “Sixth Amendment”)  further amends the License Agreement dated December 9, 1996, as amended by
Amendments Number 1 through 5 thereto (referred to herein as “the Agreement”) by and between Coach, Inc. (“Licensor”) and Movado Group, Inc. (“MGI”) and
Swissam Products Limited (“SPL”) as licensees (collectively, “Licensee”).

WHEREAS, the parties desire to make certain additional changes to the Agreement as set forth below:

NOW THEREFORE in consideration of the mutual covenants and the premises set forth herein, the Agreement is hereby amended as follows:

1. Non-Licensor Channels.  Section 1.3 shall be amended and restated as follows:

1.3  “Non-Licensor Channels” shall mean retail outlets and wholesale distributors not controlled by Licensor, including (without limitation)
department stores, jewelry store chains, Licensee Special Accounts and Licensee-Affiliated Retailers.

2.          Licensee-Affiliated Retailers. The following language shall be added as Section 1.12 of the Agreement:

        1.12 “Licensee-Affiliated Retailer(s)” means any retail store(s) controlled by    Licensee.

 3.          Licensor Approval. Section 8.4 shall be amended and restated as follows:

              8.4  Subject to Paragraph 8.6, Licensee, working closely with Licensor, shall be responsible for the world-wide manufacture and
distribution of Licensed Products, provided, however, that Licensee shall not, without the prior written approval of Licensor, which approval shall
not be unreasonably withheld or delayed, sell or distribute Licensed Products to any Non-Licensor Channels (including, for the avoidance of doubt
and without limitation, Licensee-Affiliated Retailers) that are not Authorized COACH Retailers. The parties acknowledge that from time to time
Licensor may approach Licensee to discuss whether particular approved retail outlets and/or Authorized COACH Retailers should remain as
approved outlets and/or Authorized COACH Retailers  

**  CONFIDENTIAL PORTIONS OF THIS EXHIBIT HAVE BEEN OMITTED FROM PAGE 2 AND FILED SEPARATELY WITH THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION (“SEC”) PUSUANT TO RULE 24b-2 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED (“1934 ACT”)

 4          Royalties.  Section 11.1 shall be amended and restated as follows:

11.1  Licensee shall pay to Licensor a royalty based on Licensee’s sales of the Licensed Products to all Non-Licensor Channels.  The sales to which
the royalty rates will be applied (except for sales to Non-Licensor Channels (non-US), wholesale distributors and Licensee-Affiliated Retailers
(as defined below)) shall be based on Wholesale Price as in effect in the United States when such sales are made, and no reduction of the royalty
shall be allowed for discounts given off Wholesale Price.

(a)  With respect to Licensee’s sales to Non-Licensor Channels (non-U.S.) and wholesale distributors, the sales to which the royalty rates
will be applied shall be based on actual invoice price net of all taxes, duties, freight, insurance and credits for returns actually made, but
no deduction shall be made for discounts for cash or prompt payment or for uncollectable accounts.  In the case of sales to any
wholesale distributor controlled by Licensee, “actual invoice price” in the previous sentence means the actual invoice price for such
Licensed Products when first sold by any such wholesale distributor to any entity not controlled by Licensee.

 
(b)  For Contract Years 2007 through 2015, the base royalty rate applied to Licensee’s sales shall be * .

 (c) Licensee shall be permitted to sell to Licensee-Affiliated Retailers on the following terms and conditions:

(i)  The base royalty applied to Licensee’s sales of the Licensed Products to Licensee-Affiliated Retailers shall
be                    *                                   of the Licensee-Affiliated Retailers’ actual retail sales price for such Licensed Products;

(ii)  No more than   *   of sales of Licensed Products at any full price Licensee-Affiliated Retailer location in any Contract Year shall
consist of “retail close-out” products (defined for this purpose as Licensed Products sold  *  for such Licensed Products).  In the event
that any such Licensee-Affiliated Retailer location exceeds such maximum, then the royalty rate due and payable to Licensor by
Licensee for such Licensed Products shall be equal to three (3) times the normal royalty rate for non-closeout products, which royalty
amount shall be in lieu of all other royalties that would otherwise be due on such Licensed Products; and

(iii)  To the extent that Licensed Products delivered to Licensee-Affiliated Retailers are not sold in such stores and are
subsequently delivered to another Non-Licensor Channel, then the royalty applied to

*CONFIDENTIAL PORTION OF THIS EXHIBIT OMITTED AND FILED SEPARATELY WITH THE SEC PURSUANT TO RULE 24b-2 OF THE 1934 ACT



such products shall be the royalty applicable to the Non-Licensor Channel through which they are ultimately sold.

5.         Section 11.5 shall be amended and restated as follows:

 
11.5  Licensee shall make its royalty payments to Licensor on a quarterly basis, together with a statement setting forth the quarterly sales of the

Licensed Products to Non-Licensor Channels and by Licensee-Affiliated Retailers, said payments and statements being due no later than thirty
(30) days following the end of each Contract Year quarter. All royalty payments shall be made in U.S. Dollars. Except as provided in paragraph
11.4, Licensee shall not pay royalties on its sale of Licensed Products to Licensor Channels.

6.         The first sentence of Section 13.2(b) shall be amended and restated as follows:

 13.2(b) Within ninety (90) days following the end of each Contract Year of this Agreement, and within ninety (90) days after the termination of
this Agreement, Licensee shall deliver to Licensor a statement signed by an authorized officer of Licensee reporting actual sales of the Licensed
Products to Non-Licensor Channels and by Licensee-Affiliated Retailers (based on the applicable U.S. Wholesale Price, invoice price or actual
retail sales price pursuant to Section 11.1 herein), royalties due, royalties paid and advertising expenditures during the preceding Contract Year.

 

7.        Except as set forth in this Sixth Amendment, the Agreement shall remain in full  force and effect.

 8.        This Sixth Amendment may be signed by the parties duly executing counterpart originals.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Sixth Amendment to be executed by their authorized officers and to become effective as of the
date first above written.

COACH, INC.

By: /s/ Todd Kahn
Name: Todd Kahn
Title: SVP & General Counsel

SWISSAM PRODUCTS LIMITED                                                                           MOVADO GROUP, INC.

 By:  /s/ Timothy F. Michno                                                By:  /s/ Timothy F. Michno
                Name: Timothy F. Michno               Name: Timothy F. Michno
               Title: Director/ General Counsel         Title: General Counsel

 
 



 



EXHIBIT 10.5
AMENDMENT NUMBER 7

TO LICENSE AGREEMENT

 
This amendment dated June 4, 2009 (the “Seventh Amendment”) further amends the License Agreement dated December 9, 1996, as amended by

amendments Number 1 through 6 thereto (“the Agreement”), by and between Coach, Inc. (“Licensor”) and Movado Group, Inc. (“MGI”) and Swissam Products
Limited (“SPL”) as licensees (collectively, “Licensee”).

 
WHEREAS, the parties desire to make certain additional changes to the Agreement as set forth below:

 
NOW THEREFORE in consideration of the mutual covenants and the premises set forth herein, the Agreement is hereby amended as follows:

 
1.  Section 1.3 as amended in the Sixth Amendment is hereby amended by adding “Websites (as defined herein),” after “jewelry store chains,”.

 
2.  Add the following new Sections 1.13 and 1.14:

 
1.13 “Websites” shall mean those Internet websites owned and operated by such third parties as have been approved in the past or future in writing by

Licensor to sell Licensed Products.
 
1.14 “Online Watch Retailers” or “OWRs” shall mean those retailers/distributors that own and operate the Websites, each of which shall be considered an

Authorized COACH Retailer for the purposes of the Agreement.

 
3.  Amend Section 8.4 to add the following final sentence:  “Licensor may terminate any Website previously approved by Licensor, as provided under

Section 8.10, as an approved Non-Licensor Channel for the sale of the Licensed Products at any time upon 90 days’ written notice to Licensee.”
 

4.  Section 8.10 of the Agreement shall be amended to add, after “Internet” in the first sentence, “, except that the foregoing prohibition shall not apply as to
any Website which is approved in writing by Licensor as an approved Non-Licensor Channel for the sale of the Licensed Products.”

 
5.  Amend Section 12.4 of the Agreement by adding “or OWRs” after “wholesale distributors” in the fourth sentence of the Section as amended in the First

Amendment.
 

6.  Immediately following Section 12.11 of the Agreement, the following new Sections 12.12 and 12.13 shall be added:

 
12.12 “The Licensed Products permitted to be advertised and sold by each Online Watch Retailer on its Website may include all or a subset of the styles and

SKUs
 

**  CONFIDENTIAL PORTIONS OF THIS EXHIBIT HAVE BEEN OMITTED FROM PAGE 2 AND FILED SEPARATELY WITH THE SECURITIES AND
EXCHANGE COMMISSION (“SEC”) PUSUANT TO RULE 24b-2 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS AMENDED (“1934 ACT”)

 

 
advertised or  sold via the website owned and operated by Licensor (www.coach.com) (together, the “Coach.com Products”). Any other styles or SKUs must be
approved by Licensor in writing prior to being advertised on any Website or sold to any Online Watch Retailer for resale on such OWR’s Website an no Online
Watch Retailer may purchase from Licensee for advertisement  or sale on any Website more than a total of six SKUs during any six month period which are not
Coach.com Products.”

 
12.13 “During the term, Licensor shall provide each approved Online Watch Retailer directly with artwork, photographs, lists and descriptions of Licensed

Products, editorial content, product sequencing and related products (i.e., “suggested sells”), approved forms of Licensor’s logos, trademarks, trade
names and other materials reasonably necessary for the Online Watch Retailers to advertise the Licensed Products on the Websites (together,
“Content”).  All Content shall be owned by Licensor. Any display of Content on the Websites or otherwise shall be subject to Licensor’s prior written
consent.  In respect of Licensor’s costs associated with creating, producing and delivering the Content to the Online Watch Retailers, Licensee shall pay
to Licensor: (1) within fifteen (15) days after signing this Amendment, the amount of   *  , and (2) commencing with the first calendar quarter in which
the first Website becomes operative the amount of        *        per calendar quarter that this Amendment is in effect, to be paid on the same date that
royalty payments are made for such quarter.  For the fees described above, Licensor shall provide to Licensee all Content that is being used by Licensor
on its coach.com website, and any other website operated by or for Licensor in replacement of or in addition to such website.  Any additional Content
requested by Licensee, including for styles or SKUs referenced in the second sentence of Section 12.12 above, shall be made available for an additional
fee of                *                 per item of other Content such as any artwork (including banners), email advertisement or editorial content.  Licensee will
comply with all reasonable timelines and guidelines established by Licensor and provided to Licensee in writing from time to time, with respect to any
Licensee requests for and/or use of any Content.”

 



 8. Section 13.2 of the Agreement shall be amended to add a new subsection (c) as follows:  “In addition to any other reporting required in this Agreement,
Licensee shall provide to Licensor weekly and/or monthly reports as requested by Licensor, with respect to sales of Licensed Products to the OWRs for
sale on the Websites, in a format requested by Licensor.  Such reports shall include, but not be limited to, the following information:  net sales, traffic,
conversion and demand.”

 
 9. Except as set forth in this Seventh Amendment, the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

 
10. This Seventh Amendment may be signed by the parties duly executing counterpart originals.

*CONFIDENTIAL PORTION OF THIS EXHIBIT OMITTED AND FILED SEPARATELY WITH THE SEC PURSUANT TO RULE 24b-2 OF THE 1934 ACT

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Seventh Amendment to be executed by their authorized officers and to become effective as of
the date first above written.

 
COACH, INC.                                                                           SWISSAM PRODUCTS LIMITED

 
By: /s/ Joseph P. Stafiniak                                                                      By: /s/ Timothy F. Michno
Name: Joseph Stafiniak                                                                           Name: Timothy F. Michno
Title: SVP Licensed Categories                                                             Title: Director/ General Counsel

 
MOVADO GROUP, INC.

 
By: /s/ Timothy F. Michno
Name: Timothy F. Michno
Title: General Counsel
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Efraim Grinberg, certify that:

1)  I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Movado Group, Inc.;

2)  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3)  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4)  The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5)  The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: September 3, 2009
/s/ Efraim Grinberg                                                      
Efraim Grinberg

Chairman of the Board of Directors, President and Chief Executive Officer

 
 



 



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Sallie A. DeMarsilis, certify that:

1)  I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Movado Group, Inc.;

2)  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3)  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4)  The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5)  The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: September 3, 2009
/s/ Sallie A. DeMarsilis 
                              Sallie A. DeMarsilis
  Senior Vice President,

  Chief Financial Officer and
  Principal Accounting Officer

 
 



 



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Movado Group, Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarter ended July 31, 2009, as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”) the undersigned hereby certifies, in the capacity indicated below and pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(i) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(ii) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date:  September 3, 2009 /s/ Efraim Grinberg   
 Efraim Grinberg

Chairman of the Board of Directors, President and
Chief Executive Officer

 
 



 



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Movado Group, Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarter ended July 31, 2009, as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”) the undersigned hereby certifies, in the capacity indicated below and pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(i) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(ii) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date:  September 3, 2009 /s/  Sallie A. DeMarsilis   
 Sallie A. DeMarsilis

Senior Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer

  

 

 
 



 


